
 
Town of Swanzey Conservation Commission  Approved Minutes 
July 6, 2015 
Page 1 of 6 
 

Town of Swanzey, New Hampshire 

Conservation Commission Meeting 
Meeting Minutes – July 6, 2015 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

The regular meeting of the Swanzey Conservation Commission was called to order by Chair Wally Smith 
at 4:08 p.m. at Swanzey Town Hall. Committee Members Present: Wally Smith, Bob Goodrich, Jane 
Johnson and Stephen Stepenuck. 
 
ABSENT   
Mike Morrison, Gary Coburn, Ric Dell’Erba 
 
OTHERS PRESENT 
Open Space Committee Chair Victoria Ames, Code Enforcement Officer Mike Jasmin, Director of 
Planning and Community Development Sara Carbonneau, and Resident Tina LaBarre. 
 
MINUTES 

 Minutes of June 1, 2015 were considered. Motion by Johnson to approve the Minutes of June 1, 
2015 with changes to the second page regarding “drainage could be coming from the Recycling 
Center”. There was a second from Goodrich. All were in favor except Stepenuck who abstained. 
Motion passed. 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
Meeting Dates 
Discussion occurred regarding meeting dates – for the August 3, 2015 meeting, the Chair will not be 
present and Stepenuck will conduct the meeting. The first Monday of September is Labor Day; the Chair 
set September 21, 2015 as a tentative date for September meeting.  
 
Solar Power potential initiative - Overview (Mike Jasmin) 
Jasmin spoke about renewable energy and provided a printout of an article in New Hampshire Town and 
City magazine which outlined a solar energy project. He spoke about the possibility of formation of an 
energy committee in Swanzey. Jasmin mentioned that solar power is being used in Swanzey; there is a 
lot of residential solar and he mentioned the array raised by Bob Furlone to provide power to his 
business property. Jasmin spoke about solar power activity in the State of New Hampshire as well. 
Jasmin spoke about providers to be considered and he said he would be willing to help with the 
technical aspects of such a project. Jasmin mentioned that the new Town Administrator has experience 
with solar initiatives. Smith asked about whether a demonstration project might be considered. Jasmin 
noted that SolarUp and Solarize New Hampshire are organization worth researching. He also spoke 
about how energy credits can be applied to multiple buildings when a solar array is producing more 
energy than needed by the building it is built on. Jasmin spoke about time limitations for financing 
projects like this. Smith asked if Jasmin would be willing to Chair such a committee. Jasmin said that he 
did not think that would be the best use of his talents and time. But he would be willing to attend 
meetings. Carbonneau spoke about the Solarize New Hampshire program and she said she felt that the 
membership should come from the Conservation Commission. Jasmin spoke about the timeframe for 
such a Committee and said that the members of the committee do not have to be well-informed about 
solar power/energy. He said that enthusiasm is more important; a vendor will provide the expertise. 



 
Town of Swanzey Conservation Commission  Approved Minutes 
July 6, 2015 
Page 2 of 6 
 

Jasmin said there is a limit on how much energy you can produce, but you can work out deals with your 
neighbors. If you produce more power than you need, the utilities may buy it back. Johnson asked about 
a Peterborough solar project. Jasmin said the Peterborough projects have worked out well. 
 
Smith asked for next steps. Jasmin said that launch would be February and March of 2016 and the 
project would be worked in late September and in October of this year. Carbonneau encouraged the 
Committee to review the materials that Jasmin provided and discuss further to decide what steps it 
wants to take. Jasmin mentioned there was interest by the Conservation Commission in 1977 for solar 
energy projects. Carbonneau mentioned economies of scale – with 50 or 500 families signing on, the 
costs are reduced. The more people involved, the less the cost. The Solarize Committee would choose 
the vendor said Jasmin.  
 
Smith said that he thought it would be difficult to get going because of the projects at hand. Jasmin 
suggested that people might come forward given personal interest. Johnson said it will take some 
thinking and that the members can return in September with a decision to proceed or not proceed. 
 
Jasmin and Carbonneau left the meeting at 4:42 p.m. 
 
West Hill Project (Best Practices Review, Lessons Learned, Future Considerations) 
Smith spoke about whether or not a missing member has resigned. Johnson noted that a resignation 
requires a letter to Town authorities from the person resigning. 
 
Smith provided some thoughts about the meeting whereby the Committee authorized the funds to be 
contributed toward the West Hill Project saying there was no contingency in the motion regarding 
potential changes in the proposal. Johnson spoke about the fact that the members voted in favor of 
funding based on there being an application for an LCHIP grant at the time the motion was made and 
passed, not the grant that was eventually obtained by the Monadnock Conservancy which was asking 
for the funds. Smith said that a letter from Town Administrator Shane O’Keefe said O’Keefe isn’t aware 
of any reason why the Committee could not rescind the vote if they so choose. But Smith said it would 
be difficult to do considering the positive vote by the Board of Selectmen to continue to support the 
Project. 
 
There was a discussion about the broken trust in the relationship between the Conservation Commission 
and the Monadnock Conservancy. Johnson mentioned the possibility of initiating a polite letter to the 
Monadnock Conservancy informing them that the Conservation Commission is not happy with the lack 
of communication when changes are being considered for easement agreements. The letter would also 
state that the Commission hopes that future communications would improve. Smith said he thought the 
letter is a good idea. Johnson also suggested the Monadnock Conservancy might consider meeting 
personally with the Conservation Commission for future projects. Smith asked Johnson to write a draft 
letter and she agreed. 
 

Goodrich moved to approve having Johnson draft a letter of concern to the Monadnock 
Conservancy about communication issues with the Swanzey Conservation Commission, to be 
approved at the next meeting. There was a second to the motion by Johnson. Discussion: 
Stepenuck spoke about James Oehler from New Hampshire Fish & Game Division who told 



 
Town of Swanzey Conservation Commission  Approved Minutes 
July 6, 2015 
Page 3 of 6 
 

Stepenuck that conservation easements are usually worked on by all participating parties to the 
easements. The Chair called the vote. Three voted yes, Stepenuck abstained. Motion passed. 

 
Honey Hill Survey Review (Safe Passage); next steps, if any? 
Tina LeBarre reviewed the recent survey completed for LeBarre property and the nearby Town-owned 
property. There was a discussion about trail-map box being on the LeBarre property and LeBarre said 
that she does not have a problem with the box being where it is. There was a discussion on what was 
communicated about ownership of the field. When Stepenuck noted that the concern for safety at the 
busy road led the Commission to hope for a small parking area on the west side of Route 32, LeBarre 
said that if you pull off to the left of her property there are wetlands there. Smith asked if a culvert could 
solve the problem for access to the property. Stepenuck said it would be very expensive to obtain New 
Hampshire Department of Transportation (DOT) permits for driveway curb cuts. LeBarre noted that the 
posts erected on her property were knocked over by hikers parking their cars and sometimes her 
daughter couldn’t get access to the field on horseback because of cars parked there. LeBarre said that 
people used to drive up the field to get to the trail, and that is why there is a gate there. Stepenuck 
noted that the Commission does not want to irritate the LeBarre family. Stepenuck spoke about the 
reason for asking for a bit of parking because of danger to children walking along Route 32 to get to the 
Honey Hill trail. LeBarre questioned the reasoning for a new survey due to a survey having been 
completed in 2013. Smith pointed out that a new survey was requested because there seemed to be 
some confusion about the ownership lines and the members wanted to have accurate knowledge about 
the field and access to it before inquiring further about a possible parking area. 
 
Ames spoke about the LeBarre family haying the field, and that the Town should be grateful for the work 
they do to cut the field. 
 
Discussion continued about misunderstanding and miscommunications with the LeBarre family and 
further discussion about the safety issues involved. Smith thanked Tina LeBarre for coming in to the 
meeting and expressing her views.  She left at 5:16 p.m. 
 
Grant Subdivision Application - Feedback to Sara due by July 16th. 
Smith noted that Edward & Geri Grant have applied for a subdivision for land at the intersection of 
Oliver Hill Road and Whitcomb Road. Goodrich said there are no wetlands on the property. Johnson said 
the maybe the concern is that the land is near the gravel pit.  
 

Johnson moved to accept the application of Edward & Geri Grant to subdivide their land at the 
intersection of Oliver Hill Road and Whitcomb Road into two parcels and to state there are no 
concerns from the Commission, second by Goodrich. The Chair called the vote, three votes 
“yes”, and Stepenuck abstained. Motion passed. 

 
Cook Subdivision Application - info only 
Smith said he sent Carbonneau a response saying the Conservation Commission had no questions or 
concerns regarding the application of Jeannette M. Cook to subdivide her property on Old Leonard Farm 
Road. 
 
Steve Pytik USDA Natural Resources Conservation District - (inspection) Ok? 



 
Town of Swanzey Conservation Commission  Approved Minutes 
July 6, 2015 
Page 4 of 6 
 

Smith referred to a conversation with Pytlick about visiting the sites at the Cresson Bridge and the 
Thomson Bridge to examine for possible erosion on the banks of the river. Smith said Pytlik would 
review the sites without charging a fee. There was a brief discussion regarding blocks being placed at the 
bank at the Thomson Bridge. The members agreed to ask Pyltik to review the sites. 
 

Johnson moved to invite Steve Pytlik from the USDA Natural Resources Conservation District to 
inspect the banks of the river at the Cresson Bridge and the Thompson Bridge for erosion, 
second by Stepenuck. All were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
Open Space Committee (OSC) Rotation/Membership – Status 
Smith spoke about researching the wording for the formation of the committees and noted that the 
word is “should” have a member on each other’s committees, not “must”. There was a discussion about 
the status of the Town and the rural character being weakened. There was also discussion about the 
appearance of Route 10 with a number of junk yards along it. Discussion was also held about Yale Forest 
and there being no commitment by Yale authorities to conserve the land.  
 
Stepenuck said that he thought he had volunteered to represent the Conservation Commission at the 
OSC meeting for September but then he noted that his anniversary is at the same time. After discussing 
the merits of having one person assigned versus rotating members in and out, the Commission decided 
to continue with a rotation. Stepenuck will attend September 9, 2015 instead of Johnson. Johnson will 
attend in November. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
Expenditures Report (January to June) 
Smith noted that the expenditure from January to June 2015 was $238.71 Stepenuck mentioned 
allocating funds at a previous meeting for monitoring the river for a tentative $200 expense. He said he 
wouldn’t do the whole season since he said folks did not attend a presentation on the topic and 
therefore are not showing an interest in the status of the river. 
 
Ashuelot River Landing (Bergeron Project) – Status 
Stepenuck said he emailed Todd Bergeron, but hasn’t heard back from him. Goodrich mentioned 
aluminum docks are in use at lakes that are similar to what Bergeron is planning to build. There was a 
brief discussion about whether Bergeron needs a permit from New Hampshire Department of 
Environmental Services (DES). 
 
Mt. Cresson trail maintenance; Sign Repair 
Smith asked for status report on hiking trail maintenance. Stepenuck spoke about downed trees on the 
path that he thought about removing but decided to leave them in because they might prevent an ATV 
from riding up the trail. Smith pointed out that the parking area had dumped garbage on it and 
Stepenuck said that he counted 113 beer cans dumped on the site and removed them. Stepenuck 
mentioned he mounted the signs for the trails. He suggested a post would be preferable for the signs. 
He did say he removed many of the smaller trees that were blocking the beginning of the trail. 
 
Wayne Young trail walk (Suggestions) – this discussion was postponed. 
 
 



 
Town of Swanzey Conservation Commission  Approved Minutes 
July 6, 2015 
Page 5 of 6 
 

$130 for John D. Bridges confirmation of boundary lines at Town property on Route 32 
It was noted the funding for this has already been appropriated. 
 
California Brook Dam/NH Route 10 situation 
Smith informed the members about the action to be taken at the property to form a fire pond since the 
New Hampshire DOT will be removing the boards at the current pond. Smith said the members can give 
authority to the Chair to sign agreement to move ahead or hold a special meeting of the Commission to 
do so. There was a discussion about the proposal for removing the boards, but maintaining a pond for 
keeping water for fire suppression. 
 

Johnson moved to authorize the Chair to sign appropriate documents pertaining to approving 
the California Brook Dam removal and creation of a new fire pond. There was a second by 
Smith, all were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
Multi-Tenant Application 
There was a discussion about a multi-tenant application for automotive repair for State inspections and 
auto sales at 704 W. Swanzey Road. Johnson said that there are concerns about the products they will 
be using for working on cars. Johnson said she has concerns and thinks that the application should go to 
Public Hearing. The members agreed. 
 
Gas Pipeline 
Discussion was held regarding a proposed pipeline and documents asking the Conservation Commission 
to go on record as opposed to it. Smith suggested that this proposal should go to the Board of 
Selectmen and to Public Hearing. Smith noted that there are two sides to the argument and the 
Commission cannot make a determination without all the information. 
 
Johnson began to make a motion and then withdrew it.  
 

Stepenuck moved to table any decision or action on the gas pipeline at this point in time, 
second by Goodrich. All were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
Aquifer Ordinance - Jane (Any info from Planning Board/Richard Scaramelli)  
Johnson said that Mitchell Sand & Gravel permit application has come up for a Planning Board meeting. 
Johnson shared with the members a copy of Richard Scaramelli’s reply to Johnson’s letter discussing 
precedent for gravel permits in town and the fact that gravel pits are regulated and protected by statute 
as an industry. There was a discussion about the need for aquifer protection.  
 
REPORTS 
Open Space Committee  - Ames provided a report – June event was participation in Walk for Animals 
with oxen as ambassadors to the OSC. July event is Swanzey Old Home Day; participation in parade and 
a booth is planned. A Nature Conservancy and Monadnock Conservancy conservation easement is in the 
works. Ames said that she could not answer any questions about this project at this time. 
 
Selectmen Meetings (info only) 

- Recruiting Membership - Smith pointed out that he was on the agenda for the Board of 
Selectmen and spoke about recruiting members. Smith shared with the members a few 



 
Town of Swanzey Conservation Commission  Approved Minutes 
July 6, 2015 
Page 6 of 6 
 

recommendations for getting people involved, including Town staff might be invited to join in 
Committee work. 

 
- Dumping Ordinance – Smith informed the members that the Board recommended establishing 

another committee to study the details of a potential ordinance. Discussion was about the 
concern of some individuals about use of their own property and how the ordinance would 
impact them. Stepenuck pointed out using terminology like “unauthorized persons” as part of 
the ordinance would allow owners to use their property for storage without negative impact by 
the ordinance. It was also noted that when property owners dump garbage on their property, 
health ordinances can address health and safety issues should they occur. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
There was a motion to adjourn by Stepenuck with a second from Johnson. All were in favor. 
Adjournment occurred at 6:23 p.m. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary 


